COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California Case No. S217738

PROPERTY RESERVE, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent,

V

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, BY AND THROUGH DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES,

Plaintiff and Appellant.

THE CAROLYN NICHOLS REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST, etc., et al.,

Defendant and Respondent,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES,

Plaintiff and Appellant.

COORDINATED PROCEEDINGS SPECIAL TITLE (RULE 3.550) DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES Court of Appeal Case No. C067758 San Joaquin County Case No. JCCP4594

Court of Appeal Case No. C067765 San Joaquin County Case No. JCCP4594

Court of Appeal Case No. C068469 San Joaquin County Case No. JCCP4594

ISSUES PRESENTED

Pursuant to this Court's Order of June 25, 2014, the issues to be briefed and argued are:

- (1) Do the geological testing activities proposed by the State of California, by and through the Department of Water Resources, constitute a taking?
- (2) Do the environmental testing activities set forth in the February 22, 2011, entry order constitute a taking?
- (3) If so, do the precondemnation entry statutes (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 1245.010-1245.060) provide a constitutionally valid eminent domain proceeding for the taking?

INTRODUCTION

In the decision below, a divided panel of the Court of Appeal incorrectly concluded that a vital part of the Eminent Domain Law, the precondemnation entry statutes (§§ 1245.010 –1245.060), ¹ fails to meet the requirements of the just compensation clause of the state Constitution (Cal. Const., art. I, § 19, subd. (a)). The entry statutes permit public entities with the power of eminent domain to petition a court for temporary entry onto property to conduct surveys, tests, and soil borings to determine suitability of land for a contemplated public project. The entry statutes provide for a summary petition procedure in which the trial court determines the nature and scope of the permitted activities after notice and hearing, and establishes the probable amount of compensation to be paid to the owner for any actual damage or interference with the possession or use of the property, which amount is required to be deposited prior to the entry.

¹ All statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise stated.

Disregarding the logical structure and legislative intent behind the entry statutes, the Court of Appeal held that the permitted activities, unless completely innocuous, constitute a taking of private property, and may be accomplished only by filing a formal complaint in eminent domain. If allowed to stand, the decision would substantially increase the time and expense required for an agency to evaluate and potentially proceed with a public project. It also would require landowners to defend against two eminent domain actions, including one before it is even determined whether the property will be needed and acquired for a public project. This would be inconsistent with the purpose and legislative history behind the entry statutes.

In this case, the State of California, by and through the Department of Water Resources ("State"), sought entry to conduct environmental studies and geological studies in order to investigate the feasibility of adding water conveyance facilities in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, and to determine the suitability of the alternative routes for the proposed project, which would be part of the State Water Project (SWP).² The Department of Water Resources (DWR) operates and maintains the SWP which supplies water to two-thirds of California's population. The purpose of the new facilities, which are a part of the Bay Delta Conservation Plan, is to improve water supply reliability and to restore the Delta ecosystem and native fish populations.

² The SWP is a water storage and delivery system of reservoirs, aqueducts, power plants and pumping plants. Its main purpose is to store water and distribute it to 29 urban and agricultural water suppliers in Northern California, the San Francisco Bay Area, the San Joaquin Valley, the Central Coast, and Southern California. Of the contracted water supply, approximately 70 percent goes to urban users and 30 percent goes to agricultural users. (http://www.water.ca.gov/about/swp.cfm)

The activities proposed by the State do not constitute takings under the multi-factor balancing test set forth in *Penn Central Transp. Co. v. New York City* (1978) 438 U.S. 104, 130-131, and *Arkansas Game and Fish Commission v. United States* (2012) __ U.S. __, 133 S.Ct. 511, 522. This balancing test looks to factors such as economic impact; interference with investment-backed expectations; character of the activity; duration; severity; and intent to damage or interfere with the property.

The State's proposed environmental testing activities consist of temporary, noticed, intermittent entries totaling 25 to 66 days (depending on parcel size) over the course of a year to conduct surveys, make visual observations, take photographs, and sample soil. The entries are not expected to cause any economic harm or to interfere with owners' possession or use of their properties, particularly in light of the large size and nature and uses of the parcels involved. They would be relatively short in duration, and would be made subject to a court order imposing numerous conditions designed to minimize, if not eliminate, any impact. Such limited activities are not takings under *Penn Central* and *Arkansas Game*.

The proposed geological testing activities likewise would not be takings. They would involve temporary entries to conduct soil tests and borings, including drilling holes up to 8 inches in diameter and 205 feet deep. The drill holes would be filled with a bentonite grout that is similar in texture and function to the native soils. The bentonite material can be cut with a knife and breaks apart if contacted by farming equipment. The top 2 to 5 feet of the boring hole would be replaced with native soil to restore the properties as closely as possible to their pre-testing condition. These activities are not expected to cause any significant economic impact or interference with the possession or use of the properties. They would affect only small portions of the properties; be timed and located in

consultation with property owners to minimize any disruption (e.g., avoiding harvest or hunting seasons); and last only 3 to 14 days.

The Court of Appeal declined to analyze the proposed geological activities using the *Penn Central* and *Arkansas Game* factors, on the theory that using bentonite grout to fill drill holes would effect a "permanent physical occupation" of the properties and thus be a per se taking under *Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan CATV Corp.* (1982) 458 U.S. 419. That is not correct. The grout is not a permanent structure, but a functionally equivalent replacement for soil displaced by the one-time drilling. The fill would not disrupt owners' rights or ability to possess, use, and dispose of their properties, and the State would have no continuing interest in or control over the properties or the filled space.

Even if the proposed entries would constitute takings, the entry statutes provide constitutionally valid eminent domain procedures. California's just compensation clause gives the Legislature broad discretion to fashion eminent domain proceedings, subject to tender to the court of the probable amount of compensation and a jury trial on the issue of just compensation. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 19, subd. (a).) These constitutional requirements are satisfied by the entry statutes. Moreover, the statutes are entitled to a strong presumption of constitutionality, particularly because the Legislature adopted them based on a specific judgment that the procedures they provide would satisfy the just compensation clause. That constitutional judgment by a coordinate Branch is entitled to respect.

As a practical matter, the Court of Appeal's decision would require public agencies contemplating large-scale public works (freeways, major pipelines, utilities) that might require actual takings to conduct two sets of condemnation proceedings with their attendant costs and delays: one for the preliminary studies necessary to determine whether a project is even

feasible and, if so, what property interests would need to be taken to build it, and if the decision is made to proceed with a project which impacts that particular property, a second condemnation action for that acquisition. This is not what the Legislature intended or what the California Constitution requires.

The entry statutes permit agencies to assess the suitability of a property for a public project before it is determined whether the property will be taken (or, indeed, whether the project will proceed at all), while fully protecting owners against any resulting loss or damage. Moreover, they allow agencies to gather information and data to make the required determination that the project is planned or located in the manner that will be most compatible with the greatest public good and the least private injury – a finding which cannot be made in a vacuum. (§ 1245.230, subd. (c)(2).) That is all the Constitution requires. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision and remand this case with instructions to permit the requested environmental and geological testing to proceed, in accordance with the safeguards provided by the entry statutes and appropriate supervision by the trial court.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

A. The Just Compensation Clause

California's just compensation clause provides:

Private property may be taken or damaged for a public use and only when just compensation, ascertained by a jury unless waived, has first been paid to, or into court for, the owner. The Legislature may provide for possession by the condemnor following commencement of eminent domain proceedings upon deposit in court and prompt release to the owner of money determined by the court to be the probable amount of just compensation.

(Cal. Const., art. I, § 19, subd. (a).)

B. The Precondemnation Entry Statutes

The entry statutes are included in the Code of Civil Procedure under the Eminent Domain Law (Part 3, Title 7), Chapter 4 (Precondemnation Activities), Article 1 (Preliminary Location, Survey, and Tests). Section 1245.010 provides:

Subject to requirements of this article, any person authorized to acquire property for a particular use by eminent domain may enter upon property to make photographs, studies, surveys, examinations, tests, soundings, borings, samplings, or appraisals or to engage in similar activities reasonably related to acquisition or use of the property for that use.

The agency seeking such entry must obtain either the owner's consent or a court order. (§ 1245.020.) An owner is entitled to a hearing on all issues pertinent to the petition, including the purpose of the entry, the nature and scope of the activities reasonably necessary to accomplish that purpose, and the probable amount of compensation to be paid to the owner for the actual damage to the property and interference with its possession or use.³ (§§ 1245.030, subd. (b), 1245.040, subd. (a).) The entry statutes also require a deposit of the "probable amount of compensation," which is determined by the court and may be adjusted on the request of any party. (§§ 1245.030, subd. (c), 1245.040, 1245.050.)

Should "actual damage to or substantial interference with the possession or use of the property occur as a result of the entry," section 1245.060 allows the owner to recover full compensation by filing an

The appellate court found the entry statutes do not provide for a hearing. Although an entry petition is not subject to the minimum notice requirements of section 1005 (§ 1245.030, subd. (a)), it does not follow that a hearing on the petition is not required. Like any request for an order to the court, a notice of hearing is required as part of the request. (Cal. Rules of Court, rules 3.1103(a)(1), 3.1112(a)(1).)

application with the court, or by filing a separate civil action (which can provide for a jury trial to determine the amount of damage), or by invoking any other available remedy. (§ 1245.060, subd. (d).) Section 1245.060, subdivision (b), further requires the court to award costs to a prevailing claimant, and to order the payment of litigation expenses under the Eminent Domain Law if the agency entered unlawfully, abused the right of lawful entry, or violated the terms of an order permitting entry. (§ 1245.060, subd. (b).) Under section 1235.140, "litigation expenses" include the fees of attorneys and experts.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The Bay Delta Conservation Plan

The State is proposing to construct new water conveyance facilities in the Delta. The proposed project would include construction of new intake facilities in the North Delta with connecting pipelines and tunnels to convey water to the existing SWP pumping facilities in the South Delta, where the water can be supplied to a majority of the state's population and farming through the existing aqueducts. (Attachments to Motion to Augment Record on Appeal (MA) at pp. 28:9-34:13, 109:23-110:20.) New and improved facilities would increase the State's ability to deliver water, enhance reliability, and bolster the operational flexibility of state and federal water projects—improvements that are also expected to improve ecosystem conditions for endangered species in the Delta. (2 Petitioners' (Nichols, et al.) Appendix of Exhibits in Support of Petition for Writ of Mandate, Prohibition or Other Appropriate Relief in Appellate Case No. C067765 (PA) at pp. 273, 299, 310.) The various proposed locations for the project cross or lie beneath privately owned lands, and the State seeks to enter these properties to gather preliminary environmental and soil information about them. (Id. at pp. 272-274.) The entries would enable the State to: (1) investigate potential effects on biological, water,

environmental, geological, and archeological resources to ensure compliance with state and federal environmental laws, including the California Environmental Quality Act, the National Environmental Policy Act, the California Endangered Species Act, the Federal Endangered Species Act, the Federal Clean Water Act, and the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act; (2) investigate the feasibility of alternative potential conveyance systems (surface level canals, surface level pipelines, or buried tunnels); (3) investigate the best potential location for each alternative conveyance system; and (4) determine whether a water conveyance system is infeasible for any number of reasons, including geological conditions in the Delta. (*Id.* at pp. 273, 298-305.)

B. The State's Entry Petitions

Between 2008 and 2009, the State filed more than 150 petitions pursuant to section 1245.010 seeking orders permitting entry onto properties in five counties (San Joaquin, Contra Costa, Solano, Yolo, and Sacramento) to conduct environmental and geological testing for the proposed project.⁴ (2PA at pp. 272-296.) In June 2009, the State filed a request to coordinate the entry petitions. (1PA at pp. 66-98, 106-143.) On March 9, 2010, the superior court granted the request, coordinating more than 150 petitions and setting venue in San Joaquin County. (*Id.* at pp. 154-155, 247.) As the court's order noted, most respondents opposed coordination by asserting unique, "parcel-specific" issues concerning the potential effects of the State's entry and alleged potential damages on each parcel. (*Id.* at p. 154.)

⁴ The State initially sought entry onto more than 150 properties. Settlements were reached with several owners, leaving 138 properties currently at issue.

On September 3, 2010, the court granted the State leave to file a Master Amended Petition. (2PA at pp. 269-270, 271-322; 1Appellant's (State's) Appendix in Appellate Case No. C068469 (AA) at pp. 35-42.) In its Master Amended Petition, the State sought entry for "environmental activities" in all cases, and entry for "geological activities" in some cases. (2PA at pp. 278-292, 294-296.) The environmental studies generally consist of surveys for sensitive plant and animal species, critical habitat, soil conditions, hydrology, cultural resources, utilities, and recreational uses. (*Id.* at pp. 278-285.) The geological entries involve borings up to eight inches in diameter at depths of up to 205 feet. (*Id.* at p. 294; 1AA at pp. 179-184.)

At a case management conference in October 2010 (2PA at pp. 323-451), the trial court invited any owner to present further evidence by way of declaration to substantiate any parcel-specific issues with respect to the proposed entries. (2PA at pp. 346:21-347:7, 376:4-381:18, 391:18-392:13, 405:11-18.) The court ordered the State to produce witnesses for examination on the scope of the proposed entries. (*Id.* at pp. 365:8-369:26.)

The trial court bifurcated the proceedings, setting hearings first for matters relating to the proposed environmental activities and then for those relating to the proposed geological activities. (2PA at pp. 452-465.)

C. Order Granting Entry for Environmental Activities

1. Evidence considered by the trial court

On November 19, 2010, the court conducted a hearing regarding preliminary legal matters raised by the owners, including Fourth Amendment issues and alleged indispensable parties. (1 Reporter's Transcript on Appeal (RT) at pp. 4-74.) On November 22, 2010, the court rejected the owners' preliminary challenges. (2PA at pp. 541-545.) The court also welcomed comments or opposition from any person claiming an

interest in the parcels, "so that the Order will be properly tailored if and when issued." (*Id.* at p. 544.)

On December 16-17, 2010, the court conducted evidentiary hearings on the environmental activities. (1RT at p. 75-2RT at p. 348.) The State produced three witnesses for examination: a Senior State Surveyor (1RT at pp. 149-200), a Supervising Land Agent (1RT at pp. 202-278), and the Environmental Program Manager (1RT at pp. 279-316).

The State's land surveyor described the proposed mapping activities, including how those activities—up to four brief visits over a 20-30 day period total—would not affect farming activities. (1RT at pp. 150:20-152:25, 177:2-14, 187:18-190:15, 195:18-196:19.) The State's supervising land agent testified that the purpose of the entries was to conduct preliminary environmental studies; no decision to acquire any of the parcels had been made. (*Id.* at pp. 213:2-217:26.) He also testified about efforts to minimize any impacts on the parcels. (*Id.* at pp. 248:3-18, 261:18-264:22.) The State's environmental program manager testified that trapping activities for sensitive species would occur on a case-by-case basis depending on whether the parcel had habitat suitable for the species. (*Id.* at pp. 285:2-287:11.) He also testified that any boats needed for surveys would launch from a public marina and would not go onto private property. (*Ibid.*)

In opposition, the property owners submitted declarations concerning potential effects of the entries on only four of the 138 properties at issue in the case.⁵ The declarations suggested that the activities might adversely

⁵ Thomas M. Zuckerman on behalf of Rindge Tract Partners, Inc. (3PA at pp. 597-599); Clint Womack and James A. Barrett on behalf of Mandeville Island (Tuscany Research Institute and CCRC Farms) (*Id.* at pp. 615-629); Daniel McCay on behalf of Property Reserve, Inc. (1Petitioner's (Property Reserve's) Appendix of Documents Supporting (continued...)

affect recreational and agricultural uses on the parcels during harvest and hunting seasons. (3PA at pp. 597-599, 615-616.) One parcel owner also requested 48-hours notice prior to entry. (*Id.* at pp. 617, 618-619.) Another identified further potential effects of the environmental and geological entries on its parcel, including potential damage to crops. (1PRA at pp. 279-287.) In addition, 22 landowners submitted declarations that did not allege any impacts from the proposed activities, but merely set forth parcel numbers, acreage, and uses (mostly agricultural). (1Respondents' and Cross-Appellants' (Scribner, et al.) Appendix in Appellate Case No. C068469 (RCA) at pp. 60-108.)

2. Issuance of the order and findings per the entry statutes

Following hearings on December 16-17, 2010, January 21, 2011, and February 19, 2011 (4PA at pp. 1078-1082; 3RT at pp. 349-574), the court issued an order on February 22, 2011, finding that the environmental activities fell squarely within the scope of those permitted under the entry statutes, and granting the State restricted intermittent entry onto all 138 parcels. (6PA at pp. 1525-1569.)⁶ In accordance with section 1245.050 subdivision (b), the court required the State to submit deposits of \$1,000 to \$6,000 for each parcel, based on property size, as probable compensation for any actual damage or substantial interference with the owners' use or possession that might result from the entries. (*Id.* at pp. 1514, 1528-1529.)

^{(...}continued)

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