# In the Supreme Court of the State of California Case No. S217738

PROPERTY RESERVE, INC., Petitioner.

٧.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY.

Respondent;

DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES,
Real Party in Interest.

THE CAROLYN NICHOLS REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST, etc., et al., Petitioner,

٧.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY,

Respondent;

DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES, Real Party in Interest.

COORDINATED PROCEEDINGS SPECIAL TITLE (RULE 3.550)
DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

Court of Appeal Case No. C067758 San Joaquin County No. JCCP4594

SUPREME COURT

Court of Appeal
Case No. C067765
San Jacquin County

San Joaquin County DEC - 5 2014

No. JCCP4594

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

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

#### III. ARGUMENT.

A. The Entry Order Conveyed Compensable Interests in Private Property.

Landowners' objections to the Entry Order turn on questions of law. Does the Entry Order, on its face, convey a temporary easement?

Is a temporary easement a compensable property interest? The answer to both questions is "yes."

1. The Entry Order Conveyed Temporary Easements in the Landowners' Properties.

An "entry" is no more than a legal trespass, innocuous and limited in duration. In a landmark decision applying an earlier version of the Entry Statute, this Court held:

. . . it is clear that whatever entry upon or examination of private lands is permitted by the terms of this section cannot amount to other than such innocuous entry and superficial examination as would suffice for the making of surveys or maps and as would not in the nature of things seriously impinge upon or impair the rights of the owner to the use

and enjoyment of his property.

(Jacobsen v. Superior Court (1923) 192 Cal. 319, 329 ["Jacobsen"].)

Jacobsen remains good law and has been cited, with approval, in such cases as City of Needles v. Griswold (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1881, 1895 and County of San Luis Obispo v. Ranchita Cattle Co. (1971) 16 Cal.App.3d 383, 388-389. Other courts agree: "A taking may not be allowed under the guise of a preliminary survey . . . ." (County of Kane v. Elmhurst National Bank (1982) 111 Ill.App.3d 292, 298, citing Jacobsen.)

The Entry Order granted rights and interests exceeding anything that could be allowed as an "entry." The Court of Appeal concluded:

In effect, the State seeks to acquire a temporary blanket easement for one year to access the landowners' properties for a total of two months or more by as many as eight people at a time, and to conduct its studies wherever may be appropriate on the lands subject to reasonable restrictions set by the trial court. Even though it is temporary and regulated, the occupancy nonetheless intentionally acquires an interest in real property without paying for it.

(Opinion, p. 41; see, also, pp. 30, 42.)

"An easement is an interest in the land of another, which entitles the owner of the easement to a limited use or enjoyment of the other's land." (12 Witkin, Summary Cal. Law (10th ed. 1987) Real Property § 382, p. 446.) An easement is "an interest in land created by grant or

agreement, express or implied, which confers on its owners a right to some profit or benefit, dominion, or lawful use out of or over the estate of another." (Costa Mesa Union School District of Orange County v. Security First National Bank (1967) 254 Cal.App.2d 4, 11.)

Easements may be exclusive or non-exclusive. (*Grey v. McCormick* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1019, 1023-1024.) "[A]n 'exclusive easement' is an unusual interest in land; it has been said to amount almost to a conveyance of the fee." (*Id.* at p. 1025.) For this reason, most easements are non-exclusive. (*Ibid.*)

The existence of an easement does not depend on talismanic formulae or formal requirements. (Maywood Mut. Water Co. No. 2 v. City of Maywood (1972) 23 Cal.App.3d 266, 270; Golden West Baseball Co. v. City of Anaheim (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 11, 35.) In other words, an easement is as an easement does; its character does not change merely by avoiding the word "easement."

The Court of Appeal recognized that the Entry Order went far beyond allowing a mere "entry" and, on its face, granted a temporary easement. (Opinion, pp. 30, 41, 42.) This point lies at the heart of the dispute. Tellingly, <u>DWR never argued that the interests in Landowners' properties conveyed by the Entry Order were *not* temporary easements.</u>

DWR never addressed the easement issue at all.

Instead, DWR focused on the types of "activities" that are allowed under the Entry Statute, arguing that the Entry Order was lawful because the "activities" allowed under the Entry Order are among the types allowed by the Entry Statute. In its OB, DWR again argues in terms of whether the governmental "activities" allowed by the Entry Order would effectuate a taking.

DWR's focus on the "activities" allowed under the Entry Statute misses the point and leads DWR to an erroneous characterization of the Opinion. DWR states:

Disregarding the logical structure and legislative intent behind the entry statutes, the Court of Appeal held that the <u>permitted activities</u>, unless completely innocuous, <u>constitute</u> <u>a taking of private property</u>.

(OB, p. 2, emphasis added.)

DWR's characterization is misleading. In objecting to the Entry Order, Landowners did not argue that the proposed "activities" constitute a taking. Landowners argued that the Entry Order grants a temporary easement and that – without regard to the nature of DWR's requested "activities" – a temporary easement is a compensable interest in property. The "taking" occurred in the granting of the easement.

The Court of Appeal's holding did not turn solely on the

"activities" but, rather, on the fact that the Entry Order conveyed a temporary easement. (Opinion at pp. 41-42.)

2. A Temporary Easement Is a Compensable Interest in Real Property.

Easements are "unquestionably compensable 'property.'" (Southern California Edison Co. v. Bourgerie (1970) 9 Cal.3d 169, 172-173, citing 2 Nichols on Eminent Domain 173 (3d ed. 1970).) As compensable property interests, temporary easements are routinely included among the property interests appraised and condemned in eminent domain proceedings. (See, e.g., City of Corona v. Liston Brick Co. of Corona (2012) 208 Cal. App. 4th 536, 539-540 [eminent domain action to acquire, among other interests, "temporary construction easements"]; City of Santa Clarita v. NTS Technical Systems (2006) 137 Cal. App. 4th 264, 269 [eminent domain action to acquire interests in private property, including a "temporary construction easement"]; City of Carlsbad v. Rudvalis (2003) 109 Cal. App. 4th 667, 673 [the city condemned "temporary construction easements"]; People ex Rel. Dept. of Transportation v. Leslie (1997) 55 Cal. App. 4th 918, 920 [condemnation of interests in real property, including a "temporary construction easement"]; San Diego Metropolitan Transit Dev. Bd. v. Cushman (1997) 53 Cal. App. 4th 918, 923 [condemnation of interests in real property,

Including a "temporary construction easement"]; San Diego Metropolitan

Transit Dev. Bd. v. Price Co. (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1541, 1543-1544

[condemnation of "a temporary construction easement over a 12-foot-wide strip"]; see, also, 1 Matteoni, CEB Condemnation Practice in California

(CEB, Third Ed.) §4.81 ("Temporary Construction Easement")

[discussing compensation for temporary construction easements in eminent domain].)

In its discussion of "temporary takings," DWR cites one case that it claims holds that "to obtain compensation for a temporary easement or severance, property owner must show damage caused by interference with the actual intended use of the property." (OB, p. 23, citing *Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern Cal. v. Campus Crusade for Christ, Inc.* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 954, 975 ["*Metropolitan Water*"].)

DWR is mistaken. In *Metropolitan Water*, the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California ("MWD") sued in eminent domain to acquire interests in land owned by Campus Crusade for Christ in order to construct a water pipeline. (41 Cal.4th at p. 961.) MWD sought "10.4 acres in fee, 18.7 acres of permanent easements, 27.4 acres of temporary construction easements for a period of seven years, and two permanent tunnel easements." (*Id.* at p. 963.) MWD made a deposit for these

property interests, on which Campus Crusade's appraisers placed a higher valuation. (*Id.* at pp. 962-963.) In addition, Campus Crusade sought over \$12 million in severance damages. (*Id.*)<sup>3</sup>

Campus Crusade's claim for severance damages was based on the alleged effect of MWD's taking of the property interests, specifically the permanent and temporary easements. (*Id.* at p. 963.) For example, the temporary easements required the cutting of "a row of mature trees that served as a natural entryway for the historic hotel" on the property. (*Ibid.*) MWD offered no compensation for "severance or temporary severance damages." (*Ibid.*)

The Supreme Court addressed Campus Crusade's "attempt to recover temporary severance damages for the allegedly adverse impact of the project on its ability to use, develop, and market its property during the seven-year period of construction." (*Id.* at p. 974.) In this context, the court distinguished *Placer County Water Agency v. Hofman* (1985)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Severance damages" are separate and distinct from easements and other interests in real property: "When the property taken is part of a larger parcel, the owner is compensated not merely for the injury to the part taken but also for the injury, if any, to the remainder. (§ 1263.410, subd. (a).) Compensation for injury to the remainder is the amount of the damage to the remainder caused by the taking, reduced by the amount of the benefit to the remainder caused by the taking. (§ 1263.410, subd. (b).) Such compensation is commonly called 'severance damages."

(Metropolitan Water, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 965, citation omitted.)

165 Cal.App.3d 890, a case Campus Crusade had relied on "[i]n support of its claim of temporary severance damages." (*Id.* at 975.) The court explained:

In *Hofman*, the owner alleged that the agency's temporary easement for the construction of a pipeline across the owner's property "substantially prevented use of the property for cattle and sheep ranching" and sought damages in the form of the cost to rent comparable ranching facilities. . . . In other words, the taking interfered with the owner's *actual* intended use of the property. Here, by contrast, Campus Crusade has not identified any intended use of the property during the relevant period, nor has it identified any specific loss attributable to the delay in construction. . . .

## . . . . [¶] . . .

If Campus Crusade had sold the property during the construction period and if the ongoing construction had temporarily lowered the sales price of the property, it would appear that Campus Crusade would be entitled to recover that loss from MWD. . . . But the mere fact of a delay associated with construction of the pipeline did not, without more, entitle Campus Crusade to temporary severance damages relating to the financing or marketing of the property in this eminent domain action.

## (*Ibid.*, citations omitted.)

This, is the passage in *Metropolitan Water* cited by DWR for the proposition that "to obtain compensation for a temporary easement or severance, property owner must show damage caused by interference with the actual intended use of the property." (OB, p. 23.) Yet, as shown, the case had nothing to do with obtaining compensation for, or valuing, a

temporary easement. The issue was a claim for temporary severance damages based, in part, on the alleged detrimental *effect* of a temporary easement on the value of the property.

A temporary easement is a compensable property interest, without regard to "interference" or "actual use" that may not occur during the exercise of the easement. For that matter, an easement is no less a compensable property interest if for some reason the easement holder never exercises the easement at all.

B. Temporary Takings Analysis under the *Penn Central* Line of Decisions Is Irrelevant to the Question of Whether the Entry Order Conveys a Temporary Easement.

DWR's position turns largely on the "temporary takings" cases, especially *Penn Central Transportation Co. v. New York City* (1978) 438 U.S. 104, 98 S.Ct. 2646 ["*Penn Central*"], and *Arkansas Game and Fish Commission v. United States* (2012) \_\_ U.S. \_\_; 133 S.Ct. 511 ["*Arkansas Game and Fish*"]. (OB, pp. 19-25.)

Penn Central was a regulatory taking case commenced by the owners of Grand Central Terminal, which had been designated as a "landmark" under New York City's Landmarks Preservation Law ("Landmark Law"). (438 U.S. at pp. 115-16.) Such a designation imposes certain use restrictions on the property. (Id. at p. 11-112.) The

owners, who had planned to construct a massive office building on the site, sought approval from the city's Landmarks Preservation

Commission. The Commission denied a permit for the proposed project.

(Id. at p. 116-118.)

The owners sued, claiming that application of the Landmarks Law had "taken" their property without just compensation. They sought declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as damages for the "temporary taking" that occurred between the date the site was designated as a "landmark" and the date upon which restrictions imposed by the Landmarks Law would be lifted. (*Id.* at p. 119.) The matter was adjudicated in the New York state courts, with the New York Court of Appeals finally rejecting the owners' regulatory taking claim. (*Id.* at pp. 120-121.)

The U.S. Supreme Court addressed a single issue: did the Landmark Law effect a taking as applied to the Grand Central Terminal's owners? (*Id.* at p. 122.) The court identified factors that had been used in prior regulatory takings decisions to determine whether a land use restriction effected a taking. Such factors include, for example, the "economic impact of the regulation on the claimant and, particularly, the extent to which the regulation has interfered with distinct investment-

backed expectations" and "the character of the governmental action."

(438 U.S. at 124-128.) Applying these factors, the court concluded:

"This [the Landmark Law] is no more an appropriation of property by government for its own uses than is a zoning law prohibiting for 'aesthetic' reasons, two or more adult theaters within a specified area."

(Id. at p. 135.)

Having affirmed the validity of the Landmark Law, the court turned to the question of "whether the interference with appellants' property is of such a magnitude that 'there must be an exercise of eminent domain and compensation to sustain [it].'" (*Ibid.*) Concluding that the Landmark Law did not interfere with the owners' current profitable uses of the Terminal, the court held that there had been no "taking." (*Id.* at p. 136-138.)

Unlike this case, *Penn Central* was a regulatory taking case and, as such, turned on the regulation's effect on the value of the property and on the owners' use of that property. Had the City elected to take an easement in the property, it would have been a very different case indeed -- an easement is a compensable interest in real property as a matter of law.

Simply stated, Penn Central cannot support an intentional taking of

a compensable property interest – such as an easement – without paying just compensation for that property interest. As this Court has observed, the *Penn Central* analysis applies in regulatory taking cases (*Kavanaugh v. Santa Monica Rent Control Bd.* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 761, 775; see *Hensler v. City of Glendale* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1, 9-10 [distinguishing regulatory takings from other types of takings].) DWR cites no authority under which the *Penn Central* factors have been applied in a case such as this.

DWR's reliance on *Arkansas Game and Fish Commission* is equally misplaced. That case arose from activities of the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers ("Corps"), which authorized releases from a dam, resulting in flooding of property owned by the Arkansas Game and Fish Commission ("Commission"). The Commission operated its downstream property ("Management Area") as a wildlife and hunting preserve, as well as for harvesting timber. (133 S.Ct. at pp. 515-516.)

The rates at which water was to be released from the dam were established by a plan known as the Water Control Manual. (*Id.* at p. 516.) Between 1993 and 2000, the Corps (responding to requests from farmers) approved deviations in the Manual's water release schedule. (*Ibid.*) This extended the period in which a high amount of water would be released, and that extension resulted in flooding in the Management

Area. (Ibid.)

The Commission opposed a proposal to make the temporary deviations part of a permanent policy change. (*Ibid.*) After testing the effect of the deviations on the Management Area, the Corps abandoned the proposal. In 2001, the Corps ceased its temporary deviations. (*Ibid.*)

The Commission sued the United States, claiming that the temporary deviations constituted a temporary taking. (*Id.* at pp. 516-517.) Following a trial, the Court of Federal Claims ruled in favor of the Commission, concluding that the Corps' deviations caused years of substantially increased flooding, which amounted to a temporary appropriation of the Commission's property. (*Id.* at p. 517.)

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